1990

Utah v. Small : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is made pursuant to Rule 26(2)(a) of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure and Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This court has appellate jurisdiction in this case pursuant to Title 78, Part 2a, Section 3(2) of the Utah Code (1953 as amended).

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal of right from a final judgment of conviction for the offenses of Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Distribute, a Second Degree Felony; Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Distribute, a Third Degree Felony; and Possession of a Controlled Substance, a Third Degree Felony.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL

Did the roadblock stop of the vehicle in which appellant was riding which resulted in the discovery of controlled substances and firearms, violate his

right to be free from warrantless and unreasonable searches and seizures as described in Article I, Section 14 of the Constitution of Utah?

Did the same roadblock stop violate appellant's right to be free from warrantless and unreasonable searches and seizures as described in the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

Was there sufficient attenuation between the illegal roadblock stop and the consent to search the vehicle to relieve the seized evidence of the taint from the initial stop?

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Article I, Section 14 of the Constitution of Utah:

The rights of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause supported by oath or affirmation, particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or thing to be seized.

The Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

Utah Code Annotated, §41-1-17(a) through (d) (1953 as amended):

The [State Tax] commission, and such officers and inspectors of the department as it shall designate, peace officers, state patrolmen, and others duly authorized by the department, or by law shall have power and it shall be their duty:

(a) To enforce the provisions of this act and of all the laws regulating the registration or operation of vehicles or the use of the highways.

(b) To make arrests upon view and without warrant to any violation committed in their presence of any of the provision of this act or other law regulating the operation of vehicles or the use of the highways.

(c) when on duty, upon reasonable belief that any vehicle is being operated in violation of any provision of this act or of any other law regulating the operation of vehicles to require the driver thereof to stop, exhibit his driver's license and submit to an inspection of such vehicle, the registration plates and registration card thereon.

(d) To inspect any vehicle of a type required to be registered hereunder in any public garage or repair shop or in any place where such vehicles are held for sale or wrecking, for the purpose of locating stolen vehicles and investigating the title and registration thereof.

Utah Code Annotated §77-7-15 (1953 as amended):

A peace officer may stop any person in a public place when he has a reasonable suspicion to believe he has committed or is in the act of committing or is attempting to commit a public offense and may demand his name, address and an explanation of his actions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was originally charged in a twelve count information alleging the commission of six felonies and six misdemeanors. (R. 3). Ultimately, appellant was tried on a three count amended information alleging two counts of Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Distribute (methamphetamine and marijuana) and one count of Possession of a Controlled Substance (cocaine). (R. 150-151). Prior to trial, appellant and his co-defendant made a motion to suppress evidence. (R. 26-29). It was alleged that the evidence was seized in violation of Article I, Section 14 of the Constitution of Utah and the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution. (R. 88-131). That motion was denied after a hearing at which evidence was submitted on the preliminary hearing transcript. (R. 87). Evidence was also taken by the court to supplement that transcript. (Tr.M.S. 1-33).¹ In a written order, the motion to suppress was denied. (R. 68-71). Appellant was tried and convicted by a jury. (R. 195).

On September 29, 1988, law enforcement officers established a roadblock on the south Fillmore interchange of Interstate 15 in Millard County, Utah. (R. 87 p. 6). The roadblock involved the combined efforts of the Utah Highway Patrol, the Sevier County Sheriff's Office and the Millard County Sheriff's Office. (R. 87 p.6). The roadblock was conducted under the direction of Millard County Sheriff, Ed Phillips. (Tr.M.S. p. 9). There was no written plan for the roadblock. The stated purpose for the roadblock was to conduct driver's license, registration and safety inspections of vehicles. (R. 87 p. 6)(Tr.M.S. p. 6)².

The officers manning the roadblock received verbal instructions from Sheriff Phillips, Sergeant Paul Mangleson of the Utah Highway Patrol and Phil Barney of the Sevier County Sheriff's office. (R. 87 pp. 33, 46-48).. Sheriff Phillips instructed the officers to ask all people who were stopped to produce a driver's license and vehicle registration. (R. 87 p. 47). Sergeant Mangleson instructed the officers to look for objects in the vehicles that had been stopped

¹The transcript of the motion to suppress held on August 4, 1989, shall be designated "Tr. M.S.".

²Due to the heavy flow of traffic, the officers manning the roadblock found it to be impossible to conduct safety inspections of the vehicles stopped at the roadblock. (Tr.M.S. p. 15).

that should arouse suspicion. (R. 87 p. 46). Phil Barney instructed the officers to look for suspicious clues in the body language of people stopped at the roadblock. (R. 87 p. 47). It was conceded that one of the purposes of the roadblock was to stop vehicles and look for such suspicious objects or circumstances. (Tr.M.S. p. 19). The roadblock was advertised in the local Millard County newspaper. (R. 87 p. 41). To warn travelers, signs were placed on the freeway. (R. 87 p. 7). The record does not reflect where those signs were located in relation to the roadblock. Nor does the record indicate what was written on the signs.

At about 11:30 a.m. on September 19, 1988, officers at that roadblock stopped a vehicle driven by the co-defendant, Dennis Shoulderblade. (R. 87 p. 7). Appellant was seated in the front passenger seat of the vehicle. (R. 87 p. 8). Deputy Millard County Sheriff, Jeff Whatcott, requested the vehicle registration and license of the driver of the vehicle. (R. 87 p. 9). Shoulderblade produced a driver's license and appellant produced the registration. (R. 87 p. 8-9). The vehicle was registered to Russell Clarence. (R. 87 p. 9). Appellant indicated that the vehicle belonged to a friend. (R. 87 p. 9). Appellant was requested to produce identification. (R. 87 p. 9). As he pulled out his wallet, Deputy Whatcott observed appellant shove a clear ziplock plastic bag between the seats. (R. 87 p. 9-10). The deputy then questioned the two about where they had been (R. 87 p. 10), and if they possessed any alcohol, firearms or controlled substances. (R. 87 p. 11-12). Appellant and Shoulderblade indicated

that they had been to Las Vegas (R. 87 p. 10) and were not in possession of any of the contraband listed by the deputy. (R. 87 p. 11-12).

Deputy Whatcott then requested to search the vehicle. (R. 87 p. 12). The occupants acquiesced to that request. (R. 87 p. 12). Shoulderblade exited the vehicle and a loaded firearm was located under the driver's seat. (R. 87 p. 12). Whatcott then asked appellant if there were other firearms located in the vehicle. (r. 87 p. 13-14). Appellant produced two loaded revolvers. Shoulderblade and appellant were placed under arrest. (R. 87 p. 24). A further search of the vehicle resulted in the discovery of another firearm (R. 87 p. 28), eight ounces of methamphetamine, (R. 87 p. 22), six pounds fourteen ounces of marijuana, (R. 87 p. 25-26), a small quantity of cocaine (R. 87 P. 26-27) and three thousand seven hundred fifty dollars in currency. (R. 87 p. 23).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The roadblock stop in Millard County violated appellant's right to be free from warrantless and unreasonable searches and seizures as described in Article I, Section 14 of the Constitution of Utah. The officers had no statutory authority to make such a stop. Prior to the stop, the officers lacked any individualized suspicion that any criminal offense had been committed. The State showed neither that the roadblock significantly advanced the public interest in law enforcement nor that there were less intrusive means available to advance that interest. Consequently, the evidence seized as a result of this constitutional violation should have been suppressed.

The stop at the Millard County roadblock violated appellant's right to be free from warrantless and unreasonable searches and seizures as described in the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The roadblock in question was not carried out pursuant to a plan designed by neutral and politically accountable authorities. Furthermore, there was not a grave public concern that was advanced by the roadblock. There was no evidence to indicate how the seizures of vehicles of the roadblock advanced any public interest. Finally, the roadblock created a severe interference with the individual liberties of those who were stopped.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue of the constitutionality of a roadblock stop is a matter of law. Matters of law may be reviewed without deference to the trial court. State v. Sims, 808 P.2d 144 (Utah App. 1991). Conclusions of law have been reviewed under a "correction of error" standard. State v. Kitchen, 808 P.2d 1127 (Utah App. 1991). Both of these standards are the same. Questions of law are reviewed de novo by appellate courts.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

ARTICLE I, SECTION 14 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH PRECLUDES THE USE OF ROADBLOCKS. ANY EVIDENCE SEIZED AT SUCH A STOP MUST BE SUPPRESSED.

Both the court and the Utah Supreme Court have expressed concern with the Fourth Amendment rulings of the federal courts in vehicle search cases. As an alternative, both courts have encouraged counsel to litigate these issues under

Article I, Section 14 of the Constitution of Utah. State v. Earl, 716 P.2d 803 (Utah 1986); State v. Larocco, 742 P.2d 89 (Utah App. 1987) (Billings, J. dissenting).³ In Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032 (1983), Justice O'Connor encouraged state courts to decide search and seizure issues on state constitutional grounds rather than resorting to a Fourth Amendment analysis. Furthermore, it is also beyond question that a State Constitution may provide greater protections to individuals than does the Federal Constitution.⁴

In State v. Earl, *supra*, the court suggested that the analysis described in State v. Jewett, 500 A.2d 233 (Vt. 1985), be applied to an interpretation of Article I, Section 14 of the Utah Constitution. Roadblocks have been held to be unreasonable seizures of the person on state constitutional grounds.⁵ There are three basic reasons given for this result: First, law enforcement agents lack statutory authority to conduct a roadblock⁶; second, an individual cannot be detained without a showing that the officer has an individualized suspicion that a crime has been committed; and third, a balancing of the interests involved in a roadblock stop indicate that such stops are unreasonable seizures of the person.

³For an extensive discussion of the background of this particular issue see: Davis and Wallentine, A Model for Analyzing the Constitutionality of Sobriety Roadblock Stops in Utah, 3 B.Y.U.J. of Pub. Law 357 (1989).

⁴See footnote 3.

⁵Those cases will be discussed, *infra*.

⁶See: State v. Sims, *supra*, and Point I.A. *infra*.

A.

THE ROADBLOCK IN THIS CASE WAS
CONDUCTED WITHOUT AUTHORITY OF LAW

In State v. Sims, supra, this court held that a roadblock conducted without a specific legislative authorization violated Article I, Section 14 of the Utah Constitution. The court found that the state supreme court in State v. Larocco, 794 P.2d 460 (Utah 1990), announced a policy requiring a neutral authority to authorize police to make seizures on less than probable cause. The court noted that in situations that do not involve exigent circumstances, the judicial branch of the government generally acts as the neutral authority.

In other circumstances it was recognized that the legislature has authorized stops based on less than probable cause.⁷ The court reasoned that in such circumstances the legislature weighs the need for suspicionless stops against the degree of intrusion. Since the legislature essentially involves the citizens of the state acting through elected representatives, such decisions involve a high degree of political accountability. In Sims, the court found that the authorization for the roadblock came solely from law enforcement agents. That resulted in the court concluding,

Consistent with our supreme court's emphasis on the warrant requirement, then, we hold that suspicionless, investigatory motor vehicle roadblocks, conducted without legislative authorization, are per se unconstitutional under article I, section 14 of the Utah Constitution.

808 P.2d at 149.

⁷The court cited brief warrantless stops made pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §41-1-17(c) (1953 as amended) and fish and game roadblocks made pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §23-20-19 (1953 as amended), as examples of such authorization.

Several other state courts have reached the same conclusion regarding the need for express statutory authority for law enforcement officers to conduct a roadblock. The Supreme Court of Oregon addressed this issue in the context of a civil suit for damages by a plaintiff who was stopped at a roadblock. Nelson v. Lane County, 304 Or. 97, 743 P.2d 692 (Or. 1987). Two other criminal cases involving similar roadblocks were addressed by that court at that time: State v. Boyanovsky, 304 Or. 131, 743 P.2d 711 (Or. 1987), and State v. Anderson, 304 Or. 139, 743 P.2d 715 (Or. 1987). In Nelson v. Lane County, *supra*, the state sought to uphold the use of a roadblock on the basis that such a seizure was constitutionally authorized.

In Nelson, the state maintained that it had statutory authority to conduct a roadblock under a general statute that gave law enforcement agencies the authority to enforce the criminal law. The state claimed that the statute implicitly authorized roadblocks and that the roadblock in question was conducted in accordance with "The Oregon State Police Patrol Manual." In rejecting this argument, the court reasoned,

By and large, agencies of the executive branch are free to carry out their assigned responsibilities in ways of their own choosing. Making explicit the manner in which any agency is to accomplish its task falls to the agency head or that official's designee to instruct or sub-delegate to subordinated officials.

However, some procedures may invade the personal freedoms protected from government interference by the constitution. Roadblocks are seizures of the person, possibly to be followed by a search of the person or the person's effects. For this reason, the authority to conduct roadblocks cannot be implied. Before they search or seize, executive agencies must have explicit authority from outside the executive branch.

743 P.2d at 695.

Similarly, in State v. Henderson, 114 Ida. 293, 756 P.2d 1057 (Ida. 1988), the Supreme Court of Idaho held that its constitutional provision prohibiting warrantless and unreasonable searches and seizures required express legislative authority to conduct a roadblock. The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals found roadblocks to be unreasonable under similar provisions of the Oklahoma Constitution. One of the justifications for the court's decision was that officers lacked statutory authority to make such stops. State v. Smith, 674 P.2d 562 (Okla. 1984).

In this case, the only authorization for the roadblock came from law enforcement. The procedures and conduct of this and the Sims roadblock were virtually identical. The two were conducted approximately sixty days apart. The Sims roadblock was located in adjoining Juab County and it was on the same interstate highway as the roadblock in this case. This court's ruling in Sims should govern the roadblock in this case. This court should hold that the roadblock stop of the vehicle in which appellant was riding violated Article I, Section 14 of the Utah Constitution.

B.

ARTICLE I, SECTION 14 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH REQUIRES INDIVIDUALIZED SUSPICION TO JUSTIFY A SEIZURE OF APPELLANT'S PERSON

In Commonwealth v. Tarbert, 502 A.2d 221 (Pa. Super. 1985), the Superior Court of Pennsylvania discussed the propriety of roadblock stops under the Pennsylvania Constitution. The Pennsylvania legislature had previously enacted a statute allowing law enforcement agencies to utilize roadblock stops for the

purpose of checking vehicles, drivers or documents. The defendant in Tarbert had been convicted of driving under the influence as a result of a roadblock stop. The court reviewed the case law on roadblocks and noted:

Courts upholding the constitutionality of roadblocks are not unmindful of their intrusiveness, but rather, stress that careful control and absence of discretion can bring the use of the roadblock within the Fourth Amendment.

Commonwealth v. Tarbert, supra, at 225. With respect to this reasoning, the court held:

While the arguments supporting the constitutionality of systematic roadblocks are persuasive, the rationale supporting them is flawed. No amount of control or limited discretion can justify the "seizure" that takes place in the complete absence of probable cause or reasonable suspicion that a motor vehicle violation has occurred. Certainly, the Constitution of our Commonwealth affords its citizens the right to be free from intrusions where one has a reasonable expectation or privacy.

Ibid at 225-226. The court ultimately held that the Pennsylvania Constitution is violated when roadblock stops are not based on probable cause or on a reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed.

The holding in State v. Henderson, supra, has previously been discussed with respect to the effect of the lack of statutory authority to conduct a roadblock. The Idaho Supreme Court went further in Henderson and held that under the Idaho Constitution, law enforcement officers are required to have individualized suspicion of criminal wrongdoing before a stop of a vehicle may be made. The Supreme Court of Oregon reached the same conclusion in State v. Boyanovsky, supra. Boyanovsky was the companion case to Nelson v. Lane

County, supra. It addressed a roadblock search resulting in a criminal conviction rather than a civil action against law enforcement authorities. The Supreme Court of Louisiana also concluded that there was a need for individualized suspicion to invade one's privacy under its state constitution. Consequently, a roadblock stop was held to be unconstitutional in Louisiana. State v. Parms, 523 So.2d 1293 (La. 1988).

By statute, officers in Utah are required to have individualized suspicion of criminal activity before violating a citizen's privacy interest.⁸ Both the Utah Supreme Court and this court have required such individualized suspicion in addressing Fourth Amendment issues. State v. Mendoza, 748 P.2d 181 (Utah 1987); State v. Sierra, 754 P.2d 972 (Utah App. 1988). The same requirement for individualized suspicion should also be applicable to Article I, Section 14 of the Utah Constitution.

In this case, the only reason for the stop of the vehicle in which appellant was riding was the roadblock. There was no probable cause or articulable suspicion to believe that appellant or the co-defendant, Shoulderblade, were engaged in any criminal conduct prior to the stop. For this reason, the stop of the vehicle in which appellant was riding violated Article I, Section 14 of the Constitution of Utah.

⁸See discussion in point I.A. supra.

C.

**A BALANCING OF INTERESTS RESULTS IN THE
CONCLUSION THAT THE ROADBLOCK STOP IN
THIS CASE WAS UNREASONABLE.
CONSEQUENTLY, THE STOP VIOLATES ARTICLE
I, SECTION 14 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH**

In determining the reasonableness of police action in relation to an interference with a privacy interest courts may apply a balancing test. State v. Koppel, 499 A.2d 977 (N.H. 1985). In that case the propriety of a roadblock to investigate drunk driving under the New Hampshire Constitution was addressed. The court required that the following test be met:

To justify the search or seizure of a motor vehicle, absent probable cause or even a reasonable suspicion that a criminal offense is being committed, the State must prove that its conduct significantly advances the public interest in a manner that outweighs the accompanying intrusion on individual rights. It must further prove that no less intrusive means are available to accomplish the State's goals.

499 A.2d at 981.

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