1990

Utah v. Small : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State concedes that the Millard County roadblock, established to check licenses and registration, as well as to observe any other violations of the criminal law, fails to meet the requirements for suspicionless roadblock stops under the federal constitution. The record before this Court fails to show that the roadblock was carried out pursuant to an explicit neutral plan, developed by politically accountable officials, which limited the conduct of individual officers. Moreover, there is no indication in the record that the authorization process involved any balancing of fourth amendment interests, law enforcement interests, or an assessment of the effectiveness of

² Defendant's recitation of the facts on appeal appears to contain cites to the transcript of a preliminary hearing apparently held on October 11, 1988 which has not been made part of the record before this Court.

the roadblock in meeting those interests. Therefore, the roadblock stop violated defendant's fourth amendment rights against unreasonable seizure.

In spite of the initial illegality of the roadblock stop of defendant's vehicle, the issue remains whether the subsequent warrantless search of the vehicle was nevertheless a valid consent search. Because the trial court ruled on the validity of defendant's consent to search prior to the Utah Supreme Court's decision in State v. Arroyo 796 P.2d 684 (Utah 1990), this Court should remand the case to the trial court for evaluation of defendant's consent under Arroyo and the entry of appropriate factual findings and legal conclusions on the voluntariness and exploitation prongs of Arroyo's two-prong test.

In remanding to the trial court, the Court first should clarify what standard of proof applies to the determination of whether there was voluntary consent to search. The majority, and better reasoned view, is that the state need only prove voluntary consent by a preponderance of the evidence. Second, the Court should direct the trial court to apply the exploitation prong of the Arroyo test in a manner different from that employed by the panels in State v. Sims, 808 P.2d 141 (Utah App. 1991), cert. pending, 167 Utah Adv. Rep. 25 (Utah May 14, 1991), and State v. Park, 810 P.2d 456 (Utah App.), cert. denied, ___ P.2d ___ (Utah 1991). The approach followed in Sims and Park is not consistent with either Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491 (1983), relied on by

the supreme court in Arroyo, or the remand that occurred in Arroyo.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ROADBLOCK STOP OF DEFENDANT'S VEHICLE
FAILS TO PASS FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL MUSTER.

Defendant asserts that the suspicionless roadblock at which he was stopped violated his federal and state constitutional rights against unreasonable search and seizure because the roadblock, which was established to check for proper driver's licenses and registration, as well as to observe any other violations of the criminal law, was not explicitly authorized by statute, nor was it supported by a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. Moreover, defendant asserts "[t]he State showed neither that the roadblock significantly advanced the public interest in law enforcement nor that there were less intrusive means available to advance that interest" (Br. of App. at 6). The State concedes that the roadblock in the present case fails to meet the requirements for suspicionless roadblock stops under the federal constitution.

At the time of its denial of defendant's motion to suppress, the trial court ruled without benefit of the United States Supreme Court's decision in Michigan Department of State Police v. Sitz, ___ U.S. ___, 110 S.Ct. 2481 (1990), which discussed the validity of a Michigan state sobriety checkpoint under the fourth amendment. In addition, the trial court ruled without benefit of this Court's subsequent interpretative

opinions in State v. Sims, 808 P.2d 141, 146 (Utah App. 1991), cert. pending, 167 Utah Adv. Rep. 25 (Utah 1991); State v. Kitchen, 808 P.2d 1127, 1129 (Utah App. 1991), and State v. Park, 810 P.2d 456 (Utah App.), cert. denied, ___ P.2d ___ (Utah 1991), where this Court held suspicionless roadblocks identical to the one at issue here invalid under the fourth amendment.³ Thus, the State concedes that while the trial court's factual findings underlying its ruling upholding the roadblock in this case are not clearly erroneous, its resultant legal conclusion, drawn from those facts, is not supportable under the aforementioned case law.

As in Sims, Kitchen and Park, the record before this Court fails to show that the roadblock was carried out pursuant to an explicit neutral plan, developed by "politically accountable officials," which limited the conduct of individual officers. Park, 810 P.2d at 458; Sims, 808 P.2d at 146-47. Cf. Kitchen 808 P.2d at 1130 (noting that unlike the plan in Sitz, the roadblock plan before the court was prepared by the actual officer who conducted the roadblock, rather than by a neutral body). Moreover, there is no indication in the record "that the authorization process involved any balancing of fourth amendment interests, law enforcement interests, or an assessment of the

³ Sims also reached the state constitutional issue, holding that the roadblock there was invalid under article I, section 14 of the Utah Constitution as well. 808 P.2d at 147-50. Because the State concedes the invalidity of the present roadblock under the fourth amendment, this Court need not consider its validity under the state constitution. Id. at 152 (Orme, J., concurring specially).

effectiveness of the roadblock in meeting those interests." Park, 810 P.2d at 458; see also Sims, 808 P.2d at 146-47 (noting that officials authorizing a roadblock are responsible for performing an initial balancing between the fourth amendment and the interests served by the roadblock plan, which balancing is a prerequisite to any judicial balancing analysis of a suspicionless roadblock). Therefore, the roadblock stop violated defendant's fourth amendment rights against unreasonable seizure.

POINT II

THIS COURT SHOULD REMAND THE CASE TO THE TRIAL COURT FOR A DETERMINATION OF WHETHER DEFENDANT'S CONSENT TO SEARCH WAS VALID UNDER STATE V. ARROYO.

Despite the initial illegality of the roadblock stop of defendant's vehicle, the issue remains whether the subsequent warrantless search of the vehicle was nevertheless valid. Relying on Sims, defendant asserts that his consent to search "was obtained as a result of an unbroken chain of events that began with the roadblock stop[;] [c]onsequently, the consent to search was not sufficiently attenuated from the initial illegal stop" (Br. of App. at 22-23).⁴

⁴ Defendant's non-attenuation argument is raised for the first time on appeal before this Court (Br. of App. at 21). However, a non-attenuation argument was arguably unavailable to defendant in the trial court because, as acknowledged in Sims, "then-standing decisions effectively held that a non-coerced search consent, by itself, purged the taint of a primary illegality," id. at 150; Park, 808 P.2d at 458. Thus, the State makes no argument concerning defendant's arguable waiver of the issue and acknowledges that this Court considered similar non-attenuation arguments raised for the first time on appeal in both Sims and Park.

In light of the State's concession regarding the illegality of the roadblock under the fourth amendment, the State recognizes its burden "to show that evidence obtained following illegal police conduct is attenuated from the illegality." Sims, 808 P.2d at 151 (citing Brown v. Illinois, 422 U.S. 590, 604 (1975)).⁵ Under State v. Arroyo, 796 P.2d 684, 688 (Utah 1990), the inquiry whether a consent to search is lawfully obtained following initial police misconduct must focus on two factors: (1) whether the consent was voluntary, and (2) whether the consent was obtained by police exploitation of the prior illegality. Because the trial court ruled on the validity of defendant's consent without benefit of the Arroyo analysis, this Court should remand the case to the trial court for an evaluation of defendant's consent to search under Arroyo and the entry of appropriate factual findings and legal conclusions on the voluntariness and exploitation prongs of Arroyo's two-prong test. However, in remanding, this Court should provide direction to the trial court on the proper application of Arroyo.

A. Voluntariness

As to the first prong of the Arroyo test, it is well settled that to determine whether consent to search is voluntary,

⁵ As noted previously, defendant was tried jointly with a codefendant, Dennis Shoulderblade; however, defendants elected to take separate appeals. With the exception of its discussion of Shoulderblade's failure to attack the trial court's finding of consent to search his vehicle on appeal to this Court, the State's analysis of the consent issue raised in this case is identical to its analysis of the issue in State v. Shoulderblade, Case No. 900288-CA. The State's brief in Shoulderblade was filed on November 5, 1991.

a totality of circumstances test applies to ascertain whether the consent was in fact voluntarily given and not the result of "duress or coercion, express or implied." Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 248-49 (1973). See also State v. Marshall, 791 P.2d 880, 887 (Utah App.), cert. denied, 800 P.2d 1105 (Utah 1990). And, the issue of voluntary consent is a question of fact on which the state carries the burden of proof. United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 557 (1980); State v. Webb, 790 P.2d 65, 82 (Utah App. 1990). But see State v. Bobo, 803 P.2d 1268, 1272 (Utah App. 1990) (trial court's ultimate determination of voluntary consent is a conclusion of law). However, this Court has not made clear what standard of proof applies to this factual inquiry. See State v. Carter, 812 P.2d 460, 467 n.7 (Utah App.) (declining to decide whether the applicable standard of proof is the clear and convincing standard or the preponderance of evidence standard), cert. pending, 167 Utah Adv. Rep. 25 (Utah July 26, 1991). There is no good reason not to resolve this question and provide the trial courts with needed direction.

In State v. Marshall, 791 P.2d at 887-88, and State v. Webb, 790 P.2d at 82, this Court appeared to adopt a clear and convincing standard of proof by embracing the standard espoused in United States v. Abbott, 546 F.2d 883 (10th Cir. 1976). Quoting Abbott, the Marshall Court set out the following standard which must be met by the state "to sustain its burden to show that voluntary consent was given":

(1) There must be clear and positive testimony that the consent was "unequivocal and specific" and "freely and intelligently given"; (2) the government must prove consent was given without duress or coercion, express or implied; and (3) the courts indulge every reasonable presumption against the waiver of fundamental constitutional rights and there must be convincing evidence that such rights were waived.

791 P.2d at 887-88 (quoting Abbott, 546 F.2d at 885 (quoting Villano v. United States, 310 F.2d 680, 684 (10th Cir. 1962))). This standard has been questioned by at least one other court as being an unduly strict standard of proof. United States v. Miller, 589 F.2d 1117, 1130-31 (1st Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 958 (1979). Indeed, insofar as the Abbott standard imposes a clear and convincing standard of proof on the government, it is contrary to the clear majority view that the government need only prove voluntary consent to search by a preponderance of the evidence. See, e.g., United States v. Matlock, 415 U.S. 164, 177 n.14 (1974) (where, in reviewing the voluntariness of a consent to a warrantless search, the Court said the "controlling burden of proof at suppression hearings should impose no greater burden than proof by a preponderance of the evidence"); Bourjaily v. United States, 483 U.S. 171, 176 (1987) (citing Matlock for the principle that "voluntariness of consent to search must be shown by a preponderance of the evidence"); United States v. Hurtado, 905 F.2d 74 (5th Cir. 1990); United States v. Chaidez, 906 F.2d 377 (8th Cir. 1990); White Fabricating Company v. United States, 903 F.2d 404 (6th Cir. 1990); People v. Harris, 199 Ill.App.3d 1008, 557 N.E.2d 1277 (Ill. App. 1990); State v. Cress, 576 A.2d

1366 (Me. 1990); State v. O'Dell, 576 A.2d 425 (R.I. 1990); People v. Henderson, 220 Cal.App.3d 1632, 270 Cal.Rptr. 248 (1990).

While acceptance of the preponderance standard in this context is not universal, see 4 LaFave, Search and Seizure, § 11.2(c) at 236-37 (1987), the United States Supreme Court has made clear that that standard is appropriate, thus explaining the majority view. As the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals said in overruling its prior decisions that adopted a clear and convincing standard of proof:

Since 1972, the Supreme Court has stated that the preponderance of evidence standard supplies the burden which the government must carry to defeat a defendant's motion to suppress evidence when the motion concerns the voluntariness of a confession, Lego v. Twomey, 404 U.S. 477, 482-89, 92 S.Ct. 619, 623-26, 30 L.Ed.2d 618 (1972), the voluntariness of a consent to a warrantless search, United States v. Matlock, 415 U.S. 164, 177 n. 14, 94 S.Ct. 988, 996 n. 14, 39 L.Ed.2d 242 (1974), the inevitable discovery of evidence, Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 444 n. 5, 104 S.Ct. 2501, 2509 n. 5, 81 L.Ed.2d 377 (1984), or the waiver of Miranda rights, Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 107 S.Ct. 515, 523, 93 L.Ed.2d 473 (1986).

In conformity with the rationale announced by the Supreme Court, we overrule our previous decisions requiring the government at a suppression hearing to prove voluntariness [of consent to search] by clear and convincing evidence. "[T]he controlling burden of proof at suppression hearings should impose no greater burden than proof by a preponderance of the evidence." United States v. Matlock, 415 U.S. 164, 177 n. 14, 94 S.Ct. 988, 996 n. 14, 39 L.Ed.2d 242 (1974).

United States v. Hurtado, 905 F.2d at 76. In Lego v. Twomey, the Supreme Court explained its rationale for the preponderance standard:

Since the purpose that a voluntariness hearing is designed to serve has nothing whatever to do with improving the reliability of jury verdicts, we cannot accept the charge that judging the admissibility of a confession by a preponderance of the evidence undermines the mandate of In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). Our decision in Winship was not concerned with the standards for determining the admissibility of evidence or with the prosecution's burden of proof at a suppression hearing when evidence is challenged on constitutional grounds. Winship went no further than to confirm the fundamental right that protects "the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." Id. at 364, 90 S.Ct., at 1072. . . . A guilty verdict is not rendered less reliable or less consonant with Winship simply because the admissibility of a confession is determined by a less stringent standard. . . .

404 U.S. at 486-87. The Court also rejected the argument that the admissibility of evidence challenged on constitutional grounds should be determined under a stricter standard of proof in order to protect the values that exclusionary rules are designed to protect:

The argument is straightforward and has appeal. But we are unconvinced that merely emphasizing the importance of the values served by exclusionary rules is itself sufficient demonstration that the Constitution also requires admissibility to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment has been excluded from federal criminal trials for years. The same is true

of coerced confessions offered in federal or state trials. But, from our experience over this period of time no substantial evidence has accumulated that federal rights have suffered from determining admissibility by a preponderance of the evidence. . . . Without good cause, we are unwilling to expand currently applicable exclusionary rules by erecting additional barriers to placing truthful and probative evidence before state juries Sound reason for moving further in this direction has not been offered here nor do we discern any at the present time. This is particularly true since the exclusionary rules are very much aimed at deterring lawless conduct by the police and prosecution and it is very doubtful that escalating the prosecution's burden of proof in Fourth and Fifth Amendment suppression hearings would be sufficiently productive in this respect to outweigh the public interest in placing probative evidence before juries for the purpose of arriving at truthful decisions about guilt or innocence.

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